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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Highlights for the Year 

 Entered into an agreement to sell the Company’s 75% interest in the TCM Project for SGD$ 30M value 

 Further stabilised the Company’s finances via successful equity raisings 

 

Overview 

The down cycle for commodities continued with coal prices & equity market support for junior resource companies 

weakening further throughout the year. This provided a challenging environment to progress the Company’s flagship 

high CV thermal coal project “TCM”.  

However, the Company was successful in closing an agreement to sell the project to an Indonesian group (Universal 

Coal “Universal”) for SGD$ 30 million in listed shares.  

Under this arrangement, the project’s significant development cost can then be funded via a successful listing of the 

project on the Singapore Stock Exchange’s “Catalist” board. The listing by Universal is targeting an equity raising of 

SGD$ 20M to then be combined with complementary project funding from contractors, equipment suppliers and 

offtakers. Together this would establish the funding package necessary for successful development.   

As part of this arrangement, Universal plans to undertake value added work on the TCM project, including completion 

of infill drilling in the northern area of the project & updating the JORC resource (bringing all into a higher category), 

completing a feasibility study over the entire resource area (to date the study work completed was only over the 

southern portion of the resource) and completing the remaining forestry permitting.  

Additionally, Universal is to assume responsibility for the repayment of the KOPEX funding provided for the project 

(subject to KOPEX’s agreement).  

The agreement with Universal is conditional upon many processes being satisfactorily completed including Universal 

providing satisfactory evidence of a successful SGD$20M fundraising as part of their IPO and Pan Asia getting 

shareholder approval. 

While this process will take an extended time, it continues to move the project forward and if successfully closed, 

should provide a many times multiple return on the investment made in this project by the Company. 

In parallel, the Company has moved to establish additional lines of funding necessary to provide the corporate support 

for the completion of this sale as well as seek significant new opportunities. 

Convertible Note: 

The Company has established a convertible note facility with a Malaysian funding group Coleman Ventures Ltd 

(“Coleman”) for up to $5m. The key terms of this facility are as follows: 

The key terms of the convertible note executed with Coleman are as follows: 

1. Total amount able to be drawn down under the facility : AUD $5 million; 

2. The right to draw down the convertible note is conditional upon the Company obtaining shareholder 
approval for the purposes of item 7 of section 611 of the Corporations Act. However this condition can be 
waived by Coleman, wholly or partially, such that they may agree to make the whole or part of the $5 million 
available to the Company without the Company first having satisfied the condition; 

3. Limits of Drawdown: Unless otherwise agreed between the parties, AUD $2m can be drawn down in the first 
year of becoming available and a further AUD $3m during the second year of becoming available. The 
Convertible Note becomes available on the condition of shareholders approval  being satisfied and ends on 
the date  2 years after that date; 

4. Drawdown Amounts: 10 notes of AUD $500,000 each; 
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5. Conversion Price of Notes to shares in PZC: $0.007 per share; 

6. Early Conversion: In the event that Coleman elects to convert the notes to shares within 6 months of making 
the advance, it shall be entitled to receive one option exercisable at $0.01 per share for every two shares in 
PZC subject to conversion. 

At the date of this report, the Company is currently finalising all the meeting documents and once finalised and 

approved for distribution, the Company will call a meeting of shareholders to consider the facility. 

The completion of the sale of the TCM project and the further stabilisation of the Company’s finances should enable 

the Company to take advantage of significant opportunities that arise during the current industry downturn and we 

thank you for your ongoing support through this process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Refer page 52 for Competent Person’s Statement 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Your Directors present their report on the Company and its controlled entities for the financial year ended 30 June 

2015. 

The names of Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 

Domenic Martino Non-Executive Chairman  

Luke Martino Non-Executive Director  

Michael Pixley Non-Executive Director  

Tim Gazzard Non-Executive Director Resigned 9 September 2014 

   

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 

PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY 

Domenic Martino (Non- Executive Chairman) 

Qualifications 

 Bachelor of Business 

 Fellow, Chartered Accountants Australia & New Zealand (FCA) 

 Fellow, Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants (FCPA) 

 Fellow, Australian Institute of Company Directors (FAICD) 

Experience 

Domenic was appointed as a Director of Pan Asia Corporation on 24 December 2010 and became Chairman of the 

Company on 1 March 2011. Domenic is a Chartered Accountant by profession and a former Chief Executive Officer of 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in Australia. Domenic specialises in the resources and energy sector, including mergers and 

acquisitions, initial public offerings and strategic opportunities. 

 

Luke Martino (Non-Executive Director) 

Qualifications & Affiliations 

 Bachelor of Commerce 

 Fellow, Chartered Accountants in Australia & New Zealand (FCA) 

 Member, Australian Society of Certified Practicing Accountants (CPA) 

 Fellow, Australian Institute of Company Directors (FAICD) 

Experience 

Luke was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 4 March 2010. 

Luke has over 25 years experience at Partner and Board level with major accounting firms and has served as a Director 

of several public and private companies.  He has significant experience in the mining and resources industry 

(particularly in Indonesia) and the property and hospitality industries. Luke has an entrepreneurial passion for 

nurturing businesses and specialises in corporate and growth business consulting.  
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Michael Pixley (Non-Executive Director) 

Qualifications 

 Bachelor of Business 

Experience 

Michael has worked as a merchant banker specialising in strategic corporate development, joint ventures and 

acquisitions.  He has over 20 years experience in the Asian business sector, and has extensive networks and 

relationships with key personnel in the government, corporate and private business sectors, in the Asia Pacific region. 

 
Tim Gazzard (Non-Executive Director) – Resigned 9 September 2014 

 

Jason Campbell (Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary) 

Qualifications 

 Bachelor of Business 

 Member of CPA Australia 

 Diploma in Applied Corporate Governance with Chartered Secretaries Australia 

Experience 

Jason commenced with the Company in March 2011 as Chief Financial Officer and Commercial Manager. He was 

appointed Company Secretary in October 2011. Prior to joining Pan Asia, Jason spent 7 years at Argonaut Limited, an 

Investment Banking and Corporate Stocking business in Perth. 

OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS 

Domenic Martino Cokal Limited (Director), Australasian Resources Limited (Chairman), ORH Limited 

(Chairman), Gladstone Pacific Nickel Limited (Director), Synergy Plus Limited (Chairman), 

Coral Sea Petroleum Ltd (Managing Director), MUI Corporation Limited (Director) 

Luke Martino Nil 

Michael Pixley Story-I Limited (Director) 

 

PREVIOUS DIRECTORSHIPS IN THE LAST 3 YEARS 

Domenic Martino Resourcehouse Limited (Chairman), Clean Global Energy Limited (Director) 

Luke Martino Central Asia Resources Limited (Director) 

Michael Pixley  OKLO Resources Limited (Director) 
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE SHARES AND OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY AND RELATED BODIES 
CORPORATE 
 
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of the Company were: 

Director 

 

Shares Held Performance Shares 

Held 

Options Held 

 
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly Directly Indirectly 

Mr Domenic Martino* - 7,450,000 - - - - 

Mr Luke Martino ** - 6,035,410 - - - - 

Mr Michael Pixley - - - - - - 
 

*Indirect interests are held via Domenal Enterprises Pty Ltd, Impact Nominees Pty Ltd and Indian West Pty Ltd. 1,000,000 of these 

Shares included above are held indirectly but Domenic Martino has no beneficial interest in the same. 

**
 Indirect interests are held via LJM Capital Corporation Pty Ltd.  

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

During the financial year, five (5) meetings of Directors were held. Attendances by each Director during the year were: 

 
Directors’ Meetings Audit & Risk Remuneration 

 Number of 
meetings 
eligible to 

attend 

 
Number 
attended 

Number of 
meetings 
eligible to 

attend 

 
Number 
attended 

Number of 
meetings 
eligible to 

attend 

 
Number 
attended 

Domenic Martino 5 5 - - - - 

Luke Martino 5 5 - - - - 

Michael Pixley 5 4 - - - - 

Tim Gazzard* 0 0 - - - - 

*Resigned 9 September 2014 

 
DIVIDENDS 

No dividends were paid or recommended during the year. 

OPERATING RESULTS 

For the financial year, the consolidated entity incurred a consolidated loss after tax of $1,011,233 (2014: $1,237,328). 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES  

Pan Asia owns a 75% interest in its flagship underground high CV thermal coal project, the PT Transcoal Minergy 

Project in South Kalimantan, Indonesia. An exploration drilling programme has been completed on the concession to 

date resulting in a total JORC resource of 177.27 Mt. The JORC Resource from mineable seams is 129Mt.  

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND FUTURE RESULTS 

In June 2015, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its 75% interest in the TCM Coal Project to Universal 

Coal Resources Pte Ltd (“Universal”) for SGD $30m in Universal shares, conditional upon Universal raising a minimum 

of SGD$ 20m via a successful IPO listing on the Singapore Stock Exchange. The Company expects this IPO listing to take 

some time to complete. The Company will continue to look at acquiring other assets, predominately of the same 

nature in the mining industry.  

It is not possible to estimate the future results at this stage.   
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity to the date of this report other 

than what has been disclosed in this report. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE   

On 8 July 2015, the Company announced a $2m non-renounceable entitlement offer to existing shareholders  at 

$0.007 per share. The entitlements issue closed on 6 August 2015 raising ~$918,000 from shareholders. The 

entitlements issue was not underwritten. The Company now has 490,664,567 ordinary fully paid shares on issue.  

 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 

The consolidated entity is not subject to any environmental regulations or licences. However, the Indonesian 

controlled entities are subject to Indonesian environmental laws and regulations in respect to its projects located in 

Indonesia. PT Transcoal Minergy (“TCM”), 75% owned by the Company, commissioned PT Hatfield consultants of 

Indonesia to revise and update its existing Indonesian Environmental Impact Assessment (AMDAL). The initial 

environment-related AMDAL permit was granted to TCM on 23 April 2010 on the basis of an initial feasibility 

study.  The AMDAL was extended for a further 3 years on 24 April 2013.  When the Company updates its mine plan, 

TCM will revise the current AMDAL to incorporate changes in the mine plan and results from Wet and Dry Season 

environmental surveys and Socio-Economic and Health surveys conducted by international consulting firm PT Hatfield 

Indonesia. 

There have been no known breaches of environmental laws or regulations by the consolidated entity in this 

jurisdiction.  

SHARE OPTIONS 

As at the date of this report, the Company has no options on issue. 

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS   

During the financial year, the Company established insurance covers in respect of the Directors of the Company (as 

named in this report), the Company Secretary, and all executive officers of the Company and of any related body 

corporate against a liability incurred as such a Director, secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the 

Corporations Act 2001. As per usual with such cover, the contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of 

the liability and the amount of the premium.   

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified 

or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability 

incurred as such by an officer or auditor. 

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)  

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for key management personnel (“KMP”) of Pan Asia 

Corporation Limited. KMP are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 

controlling the major activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or 

otherwise) of the parent company.   

The following persons acted as KMP during or since the end of the financial year: 

 Domenic Martino (Non-Executive Chairman)  

 Luke Martino (Non-Executive Director)  

 Michael Pixley (Non-Executive Director)  

 Tim Gazzard (Non-Executive Director)- Resigned 9 September 2014 

 Alan Hopkins (Chief Executive Officer)  
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 Jason Campbell (Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary) 

Remuneration Philosophy 

The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of its Directors and executives.  To prosper, the Company 

must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled Directors and executives. 

Remuneration Committee 

The Company has a formal Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of the 

Company is responsible for determining and reviewing the compensation arrangements for the Directors and 

executive management team. The Remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount 

of remuneration of Directors and the executive management team. 

Remuneration Structure 

In accordance with the best practice Corporate Governance, the structure of the non-executive Directors and 

executives of the Company is separate and distinct. 

Non-Executive Director Remuneration 

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Company with the ability to attract and 

retain Directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders. The level of fees is not 

linked to the Directors’ or the Company’s performance. 

The ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive Directors shall be determined from 

time to time by a general meeting. The latest determination was at an Annual General Meeting when shareholders 

approved an aggregate remuneration of $250,000 per year. Further, shareholders must approve the framework for 

any equity schemes. If a Director is recommended for being able to participate in an equity scheme, this participation 

must be approved by the shareholders. 

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in which it is 

apportioned amongst Directors is reviewed annually.  The Board considers advice from external shareholders as well 

as the fees paid to non-executive Directors of comparable companies when undertaking the annual review process. 

Each Director receives a fee for being a Director of the Company. An additional fee may also be paid for each Board 

committee, where warranted, on which a Director sits. The payment of additional fees for serving on a committee 

recognises the additional time commitment required by Directors who serve on one or more sub committees. 

Senior Manager and Executive Director Remuneration 

Remuneration consists of fixed remuneration. 

Fixed Remuneration 

Fixed remuneration is reviewed by the Board where applicable. The process consists of a review of relevant 

comparative remuneration in the market and internally and, where appropriate, external advice on policies and 

practices. The Board has access to external, independent advice where necessary. The Chairman’s remuneration is 

currently $3,000 per month and non-executive directors are paid $2,000 per month.  

The CEO Alan Hopkins, through his Company, Ridgescan Pty Ltd, previously provided services via his Consultancy 

Agreement which expired in April 2015. Since then he continues to provide the services on a monthly basis and at a 

50% level of previous arrangements. There is currently no service agreement in place.  
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REMUNERATION REPORT 

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
 

Table 1: Directors’ remuneration for the years ended 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014: 

   Primary Benefits   Post Employment     

  Salary & 

Fees 

Cash 

STI 

LTI Non Monetary 

Benefits 

Equity 

Options 

Superannuation Retirement Other Total % Performance 

Related 

   $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $  

D Martino  

Non Executive 

Chairman 

2014 

2015 

46,000 

36,000 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

46,000 

36,000 

- 

- 

L Martino 

Non Executive 

Director 

2014 

2015 

29,000 

24,000 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

29,000 

24,000 

- 

- 

M Pixley 

Non Executive 

Director 

2014 

2015 

29,000 

24,000 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

29,000 

24,000 

- 

- 

T Gazzard* 

Non Executive 

Director 

2014 

2015 

29,000 

4,600 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

29,000 

4,600 

- 

- 

Total 

 

2014 

2015 

148,000 

88,600 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

148,000 

88,600 

- 

- 

*Resigned 9 September 2014 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued) 

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel (continued) 
 

Table 2: Senior Management and Executives’ remuneration for the years ended 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014: 

 

   Primary Benefits   Post Employment     

  Salary & 
Fees 

Cash STI LTI Non 
Monetary 
Benefits 

Equity 
Options 

Superannuation Retirement Other Total % 
Performance 

Related 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $  

A Hopkins 

CEO 

2014 
2015 

240,000 
235,000 

- 
- 

- 
- 

18,336 
15,703 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

258,336 
250,703 

- 
- 

J Campbell 

Company Sec 

2014 
2015 

180,000 
180,000 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

16,650 
17,100 

- 
- 

- 
- 

196,650 
197,100 

- 
- 

Total 

 

2014 
2015 

420,000 
415,000 

- 
- 

- 
- 

18,336 
15,703 

- 
- 

16,650 
17,100 

- 
- 

- 
- 

454,986 
447,803 

- 
- 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued) 

Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel  

 

Shares held in the Company (number) 

30 June 2015 

Balance at 
beginning of 

period 
Exercised 
Options 

Net change 
Other 

Balance at 

end of period 

D.Martino 7,450,000 - - 7,450,000 
M.Pixley - - - - 
L.Martino 6,035,410 - - 6,035,410 
T.Gazzard* - - - - 
A.Hopkins 5,821,000 - - 5,821,000 
J.Campbell  - - -  

Total 19,306,410 - - 19,306,410 

* Resigned 9 September 2014 

 

30 June 2014 

Balance at 
beginning of 

period 
Exercised 
Options 

Net change 
Other 

Balance at 

end of period 

D.Martino 7,450,000 - - 7,450,000 
M.Pixley - - - - 
L.Martino 5,835,410 - 200,000 6,035,410 
T.Gazzard* - - - - 
M Jakeman ** 6,750,000 - - 6,750,000 
A.Hopkins 5,521,000 - 300,000 5,821,000 
J.Campbell  - - - - 

Total 25,556,410 - 500,000 26,056,410 

 

*Resigned 9 September 2014 
** Resigned 28 November 2013 
 
Option holdings of Key Management Personnel  
 

Options held in the Company (number) 

30 June 2015 

Balance at 
beginning of 

period Purchases 
Exercised 
options 

Net change 
Other 

Balance at 

end of period 

D Martino - - - - - 
M Pixley - - - - - 
L Martino - - - - - 
T Gazzard* - - - - - 
A Hopkins 4,000,000 - - (4,000,000) - 
J.Campbell 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 

Total 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) - 

 

* Resigned 9 September 2014 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued) 

Option holdings of Key Management Personnel (continued) 
 

Options held in the Company (number) 

30 June 2014 

Balance at 
beginning of 

period Purchases 
Exercised 
options 

Net change 
Other 

Balance at 

end of period 

D Martino - - - - - 
M Pixley - - - - - 
L Martino - - - - - 
T Gazzard* - - - - - 
A Hopkins 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000 
J.Campbell 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 

Total 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 

*Resigned 9 September 2014 

 

During the reporting period, fees for administrative, accounting and consulting fees of $86,787 (excluding GST) were 

incurred to Indian Ocean Advisory Group Pty Ltd. These services were provided on normal commercial terms and 

conditions and at market rates. Mr Luke Martino is a Director of Indian Ocean Advisory Group Pty Ltd. The amount 

outstanding at year end is $90,531. 

As reported in the Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2014: 

1. Ridgescan Pty Ltd, a company related to Mr Alan Hopkins, had provided short-term loans to the Company. 

These were repaid in October 2014. In December 2014, Ridgescan Pty Ltd provided a further short-term loan 

of $50,000, which incurred a fee of $5,000. This short-term loan was settled prior to 30 June 2015. As at 30 

June 2015, there are no loan principal or fees outstanding to Ridgescan Pty Ltd. 

2. LJM Capital Corporation Pty Ltd, a company related Mr Luke Martino, had provided a short-term loan to the 

Company.  The loan was repaid prior to 31 December 2014. 

 

End of Remuneration Report  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Directors of the Company support and adhere to the principles of corporate governance, recognising the need for 

the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability. Please refer to the Corporate Governance Statement 

dated 30 September 2015 that is available on the Company’s website at www.panasiacorp.com.au. 

    

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 

proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all 

or any part of those proceedings. 

The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 

AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 requires our auditors, HLB Mann Judd, to provide the Directors of the 

Company with an Independence Declaration in relation to the audit of the financial report. This Independence 

Declaration is set out on page 16 and forms part of this Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2015. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided by the auditor are outlined in Note 

21 to the financial statements. The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with 

the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 

The Directors are of the opinion that the services do not compromise the auditor’s independence as all non-audit 

services have been reviewed to ensure that they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor and 

none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Code of Conduct 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards 

Board. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 

 

 

 

Luke Martino 
Director 
 
Dated 30 September 2015 

http://www.panasiacorp.com.au/
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HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership)  ABN 22 193 232 714 
Level 4, 130 Stirling Street Perth WA 6000.  PO Box 8124 Perth BC 6849 Telephone +61 (08) 9227 7500. Fax +61 (08) 9227 7533. 
Email: hlb@hlbwa.com.au.  Website: http://www.hlb.com.au 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
  

HLB Mann Judd (WA Partnership) is a member of 

 

 International, a worldwide organisation of accounting firms and business advisers. 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial report of Pan Asia Corporation Limited for 
the year ended 30 June 2015, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been 
no contraventions of: 
 
a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit;  

and 
 
b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Perth, Western Australia 
30 September 2015  

 L Di Giallonardo 
 Partner 

 
 
 

http://www.hlb.com.au/
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 

The statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 Notes CONSOLIDATED 

  2015 2014 

  $ $ 

    

Other income 3(a) 1,114 1,142 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 3(b) - (9,369) 

Other expenses 3(c) (1,012,347) (1,229,101) 

Loss before income tax  (1,011,233) (1,237,328) 

Income tax benefit 4 - - 

Net loss for the period  (1,011,233) (1,237,328) 

    

Other comprehensive income for the period    

Items that may be classified to profit or loss:  

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 

Income tax relating to these items  

 

 

1,214,752 

- 

(106,601) 

- 

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year, net of tax  1,214,752 (106,601) 

    

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the period  203,519 (1,343,929) 

    

The net loss for the period is attributable to:    

Owners of the parent  (1,009,260) (1,230,793) 

Non-controlling interest  (1,973) (6,535) 

  (1,011,233) (1,237,328) 

The total comprehensive income / (loss) for the period is 

attributable to:    

Owners of the parent  185,065 (1,336,054) 

Non-controlling interest  18,454 (7,875) 

  203,519 (1,343,929) 

    

Basic loss per share  5 (0.25) (0.80) 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 Notes  CONSOLIDATED 

  2015 2014 

ASSETS  $ $ 

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 6 135,985 200,600 

Trade and other receivables 7 13,642 18,137 

Prepayments  24,421 19,391 

Other financial assets 8 2,083 - 

Total Current Assets  176,131 238,128 

Non-Current Assets    

Plant and equipment 10 63,585 75,224 

Deferred exploration expenditure 11 18,821,917 16,093,077 

Loans to other entities  9(a) 144,203 144,203 

Total Non-Current Assets  19,029,705 16,312,504 

TOTAL ASSETS  19,205,836 16,550,632 

    

LIABILITIES    

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 12 1,369,897 1,337,196 

Borrowings 14(a) 12,534 78,193 

Loans from other entities 13 3,494,271 3,362,775 

Total Current Liabilities  4,876,702 4,778,164 

Non-Current Liabilities    

Borrowings 14(b) 58,296 - 

Deferred tax liability  2,315,499 2,315,499 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  2,373,795 2,315,499 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  7,250,497 7,093,663 

NET ASSETS  11,955,339 9,456,969 

    

EQUITY    

Issued capital 16 58,475,942 56,181,091 

Reserves 17 1,384,844 381,824 

Accumulated losses  (49,359,296) (48,541,341) 

Parent entity interest  10,501,490 8,021,574 

Non-controlling interest  1,453,849 1,435,395 

TOTAL EQUITY  11,955,339 9,456,969 

 

The statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
Issued Capital 

$ 

Share based 
Payments 
Reserve 

$ 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve 

$ 

Accumulated 
Losses 

$ 

Non-controlling 
Interest 

$ 
Total Equity 

$ 

Balance at 30 June 2013 54,730,660 191,305 295,780 (47,310,548) 1,443,270 9,350,467 

Loss for the year - - - (1,230,793) (6,535) (1,237,328) 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations - - (105,261) - (1,340) (106,601) 

Total comprehensive loss - - (105,261) (1,230,793) (7,875) (1,343,929) 

Shares issued during the year (net of share issue costs) 1,450,431 - - - - 1,450,431 

Balance at 30 June 2014 56,181,091 191,305 190,519 (48,541,341) 1,435,395 9,456,969 

Loss for the year - - - (1,009,260) (1,973) (1,011,233) 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations - - 1,194,325 - 20,427 1,214,752 

Total comprehensive income - - 1,194,325 (1,009,260) 18,454 203,519 

Shares issued during the year (net of share issue costs) 2,294,851 - - - - 2,294,851 

Options expired during the year - (191,305) - 191,305 - - 

Balance at 30 June 2015 58,475,942 - 1,384,844 (49,359,296) 1,453,849 11,955,339 

       

 

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

 Notes  CONSOLIDATED 

  2015 2014 

  $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  - - 

Interest received  1,114 1,142 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (823,097) (793,529) 

Mining tenement expenditure  (1,031,758) (761,658) 

Interest and income taxes paid  (18) (12,926) 

Net cash flows used in operating activities 6 (1,853,759) (1,566,971) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (9,398) (1,567) 

Proceeds from sale of investments and fixed assets   - 11,921 

Repayments made to related parties   (698,363) - 

Funds received from related parties  200,000 237,310 

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities  (507,761) 247,664 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issue of shares (net of share issue costs)  2,294,753 1,450,430 

Net cash flows from financing activities  2,294,753 1,450,430 

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (66,767) 131,123 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  200,600 69,569 

Exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  2,152 (92) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6 135,985 200,600 

 

The statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(a) Basis of Preparation 

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations and complies with other 

requirements of the law.  

The financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis. 

The accounting policies detailed below have been consistently applied to all of the years presented unless otherwise 

stated.  

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars.  

The Company is a listed public Company incorporated in Australia. The principal activities of the entities in the Group 

are coal exploration and development in Indonesia. 

 

(b) Adoption of new and revised standards 

Changes in accounting policies on the application of Accounting Standards 

In the year ended 30 June 2015, the Directors have reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations 

issued by the AASB that are relevant to the Group’s operation and effective for the current annual reporting period. 

It has been determined by the Directors that there is no impact, material or otherwise, of the new and revised 

Standards and Interpretations on the Group’s business and, therefore, no change is necessary to Group accounting 

policies. 

The Directors have also reviewed all new Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet 

effective for the year ended 30 June 2015. As a result of this review, the Directors have determined that there is no 

impact, material or otherwise, of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations on the Group’s business and, 

therefore, no change necessary to Group accounting policies. 

 

(c) Statement of Compliance  

The financial report was authorised for issue on 30 September 2015. 

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to 

International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial report, 

comprising the financial statements and notes thereto, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS). 

 

(d) Basis of consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Pan Asia Corporation Limited and the 

entities it controlled (“the Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2015. 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using 

consistent accounting policies. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income and expenses 

and profit and losses resulting from intra-Group transactions have been fully eliminated.  
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(d) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be 

consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. Control exists where the Company has 

the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

Unrealised gains or transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 

interests in the subsidiaries.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 

impairment of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 

ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.   

Non-controlling interests represent the consolidated profit or loss and net assets in subsidiaries not held by the Group 

and are presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated 

statement of financial position.  Losses are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit 

balance. 

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with 

equity owners of the Group.  A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts 

of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary.  Any difference 

between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is 

recognised within equity attributable to owners of Pan Asia Corporation Limited. 

When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 

remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.  The fair value is the initial 

carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, jointly 

controlled entity or financial asset.  In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 

respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.  This 

may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

 

(e) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying 

values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 

assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 

may differ from these estimates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions are recognised in the period in 

which the estimate is revised if it affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods. 

Share-based payment transactions: 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 

equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using a Black and Scholes 

model, as discussed in Note 25. 

The Group measures the cost of cash-settled share-based payments at fair value at the grant date using the Black and 

Scholes formula taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted, as discussed 

in Note 25. 
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(e) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

Exploration and evaluation costs carried forward  

The recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation costs carried forward is dependent on the 

future successful outcome from exploration activities or alternatively the sale of the respective areas of interest. 

Where exploration results are unsuccessful, or no further work is to be undertaken, the Directors will then assess 

whether an impairment write-down is required, which will be recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

(f) Revenue recognition 

Revenues are stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) payable to the taxation authority. 

Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Amounts disclosed as revenue are net 

of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.  Revenue is recognised to the 

extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

 Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the 

buyer and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. Risks 

and rewards of ownership are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the 

customer. 

 Interest income 

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 

 

(g) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

 when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, 

in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense 

item as applicable; and 

 receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 

payables in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 

from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified 

as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 

authority. 

 

(h) Income Tax 

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on 

the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 

attributable to temporary difference and to unused tax losses.   

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of 

the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.  

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax  
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(h) Income Tax (continued) 

regulation is subject to interpretation.  It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected 

to be paid to the tax authorities. 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to complete the amount are those 

that are enacted or substantially enacted by the balance date. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance date between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 

 when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability 

in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

 when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests 

in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is 

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 

assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 

deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 

except: 

 when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 

transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

 when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or 

interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is 

probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 

available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and reduced to the extent that it 

is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset 

to be utilised. 

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognised to the extent that it 

has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively  

enacted at balance date. 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in profit or loss. 

 

(i) Foreign currency translation 

Both the functional and presentation currency of Pan Asia Corporation Limited is Australian dollars. Each entity in the 

Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are 

measured using that functional currency. 
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(i) Foreign currency translation (continued) 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates 

ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 

at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance date. 

All exchange differences in the consolidated financial report are taken to profit or loss with the exception of 

differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign entity. These 

are taken directly to equity until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognised in profit or loss. 

Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those borrowings are also recognised in equity. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction.   

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 

when the fair value was determined. 

The functional currency of the foreign operations PT PZC Services and PT Transcoal Minergy, is United States dollars 

(US$). 

As at the balance date the assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of 

Pan Asia Corporation Limited at the rate of exchange ruling at balance date and income and expense items are 

translated at the weighted average exchange rate for the year. 

The exchange differences arising on the translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity, being 

recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. 

On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign 

operation is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(j) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily 

convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  Bank 

overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position. 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 

defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

 

(k) Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment.  Trade receivables are generally due for 

settlement within periods ranging from 15 days to 30 days.  

Impairment of trade receivables is continually reviewed and those that are considered to be uncollectible are written 

off by reducing the carrying amount directly.  An allowance account is used when there is objective evidence that the 

Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original contractual terms. Factors considered by 

the Group in making this determination include known significant financial difficulties of the debtor, review of 

financial information and significant delinquency in making contractual payments to the Group. The impairment 

allowance is set equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the receivable and the present value of 

estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Where receivables are short-term 

discounting is not applied in determining the allowance.  
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(k) Trade and other receivables (continued) 

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within other expenses. 

When a trade receivable for which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a 

subsequent period, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 

written off are credited against other expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

(l) Impairment of assets 

The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 

indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the 

asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 

in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 

independent of those from other assets or Groups of assets and the asset's value in use cannot be estimated to be 

close to its fair value. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to which it 

belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or 

cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent with the 

function of the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at revalued amount (in which case the impairment loss is 

treated as a revaluation decrease). 

An assessment is also made at each balance date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 

impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is 

estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 

to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the 

carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for 

the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in 

which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in 

future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its 

remaining useful life. 

 

(m) Trade and other payables  

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services 

provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes 

obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. Trade and other payables are 

presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months.  

 

(n) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly 

attributable transaction costs. 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. 

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised. 
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(o) Issued capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 

are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

 

(p) Exploration and evaluation 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to each separate area of interest are recognised as an exploration 

and evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred where the following conditions are satisfied: 

i. the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and 

ii. at least one of the following conditions is also met: 

(a) the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful 

development and exploration of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or 

(b) exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the balance date reached a stage 

which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable 

reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost and include acquisition of rights to explore, studies, 

exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling and associated activities and an allocation of depreciation and amortised 

of assets used in exploration and evaluation activities. General and administrative costs are only included in the 

measurement of exploration and evaluation costs where they are related directly to operational activities in a 

particular area of interest. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying 

amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the 

exploration and evaluation asset (for the cash generating unit(s) to which it has been allocated being no larger than 

the relevant area of interest) is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where an 

impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its 

recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 

that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years. 

Where a decision has been made to proceed with development, in respect of a particular area of interest, the relevant 

exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance is then reclassified to development. 

 

(q) Financial Assets 

Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition & Measurement are classified as either 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-

for-sale investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, 

plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transactions costs. The  

Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, 

re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end. 

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group 

commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under 

contracts that require delivery of the assets within the period established generally by regulation or convention in the 

marketplace. 
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(q) Financial Assets (continued) 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 

an active market.  Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Gains and losses are 

recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the 

amortisation process. 

 

(r) Impairment of financial assets 

The Group assesses at each balance date whether a financial asset or Group of financial assets is impaired. 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been 

incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the 

financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The 

carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss 

is recognised in profit or loss. 

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 

individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If it is 

determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 

significant or not, the asset is included in a Group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that 

Group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment 

and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of 

impairment. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 

to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. 

Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of 

the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. 

 

(s) Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Such 

cost includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of replacing the parts is 

incurred. Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the plant 

and equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows: 

Plant and equipment – 1-5 years  

The assets' residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

financial year end. 

i. Impairment 

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each balance date, with 

recoverable amount being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

value may be impaired. 

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre- 
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(s) Plant and equipment (continued) 

i. Impairment (continued) 

tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the asset. 

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, recoverable amount is determined for 

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs, unless the asset's value in use can be estimated to be 

close to its fair value. 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash-generating units exceeds its estimated 

recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its recoverable amount. 

For plant and equipment, impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in 

the ‘impairment of non-current assets’ line item. 

 

ii. De-recognition and disposal 

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits 

are expected from its use or disposal. 

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is 

derecognised. 

 

(t) Share-based payment transactions 

Equity settled transactions 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) of the Group in the form of share-based 

payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled 

transactions). 

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity 

instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a Black and 

Scholes model, further details of which are given in Note 25. 

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked 

to the price of the shares of Pan Asia Corporation Limited (market conditions) if applicable. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period 

in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees 

become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period). 

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each balance date until vesting date reflects (i) 

the extent to which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity 

instruments that will ultimately vest. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions 

being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. The Statement 

of Comprehensive Income charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as 

at the beginning and end of that period. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional 

upon a market condition. 

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not 

been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the  
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(t) Share-based payment transactions (continued) 

share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of 

modification. 

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not 

yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled 

award and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated 

as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. 

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 

earnings/loss per share (see Note 5). 

Share based payments with parties other than employees and contractors acting in the capacity of employees is 

measured by reference to the fair value goods or services rendered at the date on which the Group obtains the goods 

or the counterparty renders services.  

 

(u) Segment Reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 

decision maker.  The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 

performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors of Pan Asia Corporation Limited. 

 

(v) Earnings or loss per share 

Basic earnings or loss per share is calculated as net profit or loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to 

exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 

Diluted earnings or loss per share is calculated as net profit or loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted 

for: 

 costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends; 

 the after tax effect of dividends and interests associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have 

been recognised as expenses; and 

other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the 

dilution of potential ordinary shares divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive 

potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 

 

(w) Going Concern 

In the year ended 30 June 2015, the Company recorded a net loss of $1,011,233 and a net operating cash outflow of 

$1,853,759. The Company has a working capital deficiency of $4,700,571 as at 30 June 2015, due principally to the 

current nature of the loan with KOPEX Mining of US$2,767,500 for the feasibility study and drilling activities relating to 

the TCM project. The Company has entered into a guarantee and indemnity to guarantee the performance of TCM to 

repay the loan.  As announced to ASX on 22 June 2015, the Company received a letter from PT Kopex Mining 

Contractors (Kopex) demanding repayment of the loan guaranteed by the Company in the amount of US$2,767,500 

(approximately A$3,603,517) plus interest (Kopex Loan) by 30 June 2015.  Kopex’s letter states that if payment is not 

made by 30 June 2015 then Kopex will initiate legal proceedings against the Company to recover the debt plus 

interest. The Company notes, however, that under revised repayment terms agreed with Kopex on or about 26 

November 2014, if the Company makes an arrangement to sell at least 50% of the TCM Project prior to 15 June 2015 

then the outstanding balance of the Kopex Loan is to be repaid from the proceeds of the sale.   
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(w) Going Concern (continued) 

As announced to ASX on 4 June 2015, the Company has entered into a binding heads of agreement with Universal Coal 

Resources Pte Ltd (Universal) under which the Company proposes to sell its interest in the TCM Project for shares in 

Universal to the value of SG$30,000,000 (approximately A$30,378,000).  The agreement is conditional on a number of 

key matters including, but not limited to, Universal completing its IPO on the Singapore Exchange, and Kopex and 

Universal agreeing to terms for the settlement of the Kopex Loan using proceeds from the IPO. The Company 

considers that, having entered into an arrangement to sell its interest in the TCM Project to Universal, the outstanding 

balance of the Kopex Loan should now be repaid through that transaction i.e. from funds raised by Universal in 

connection with its IPO.  However the Company notes that there is a risk that an arbiter may interpret the revised 

repayment terms as requiring the sale of the TCM Project to have completed by 15 June 2015, rather than an 

arrangement simply having been made.  Since receiving the demand letter, the Company and Kopex have been in 

discussions regarding repayment of the Kopex Loan however the matter remains unresolved at the date of this Annual 

Report.  Although the Company is hopeful that an amicable solution can be reached, Shareholders must be aware that 

if repayment terms for the Kopex Loan cannot be agreed then the matter may be referred to arbitration and the 

Company could face insolvency in the event of an adverse ruling or settlement.  If the sale of the TCM Project does not 

complete or if the Company is otherwise required to repay the Kopex Loan itself, then it may be required to draw 

down funds under the Convertible Note executed on 12 April 2015. However, the Facility Agreement is still subject to 

Shareholder approval, which may not be obtained before the Kopex Loan is due to be repaid or at all, and there is a 

maximum draw down during the first year of A$2,000,000, and during the second year of A$3,000,000.  Alternatively, 

the Company may be required to seek additional funding in order to repay the Kopex Loan.  There is a risk that such 

funding will not be available to the Company on reasonable terms or at all.   

Notwithstanding the above, the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 

contemplates continuity of normal business and the realisation of assets and liabilities in the ordinary course of 

business and on the assumption of sufficient funds becoming available for the operations of the Group. 

The Board considers the Group is a going concern but recognises that additional funding, with the possibility of a 

drawn down on the Convertible Note, will be required to ensure that the Group can continue to funds its operations 

at least for the next 12 months from the date of this report.  

Since 1 July 2014, the Board has been successful in seeking the following financing opportunities for the Group: 

 9 September 2014 -   Raised $1.6m in an underwritten rights issue; 

 16 March 2015 -                        Placement of 54,000,000 shares at $0.005, to raise $270,000 to sophisticated 
investor Select Equity Growth Limited; 

 21 April 2015 -                          Executed Convertible Note Agreement for $5m with Coleman Ventures Limited, 
convertible at $0.007 per share with $2m drawn down for year 1 and a further $3m 
available to be drawn down in year 2. Coupon rate is 3% per annum; 

 6 August 2015 -                         Successfully closed Entitlements Issue raising of ~$918,000 at $0.007 per share.   

 

The Directors will continually review a number of funding options as and when required. In the event that the 

Company is unsuccessful in generating sufficient future cash flows by raising additional equity, loan funds or a 

potential sell-down of assets, there exists a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 

ability  to continue as a going concern and therefore the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its 

liabilities in the normal course of business. The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the 

recoverability and classification of recorded asset and liability amounts that might be necessary should the Group not 

continue as a going concern.   
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NOTE 2: SEGMENT REPORTING 

Segment Information 

The following table presents revenue and result information and certain asset and liability information regarding the 

relevant segments for the period ended 30 June 2015 for the consolidated entity. 

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the Board of Pan Asia Corporation Limited. 

The reportable segments have been identified around geographical areas and regulatory environments. Operating 

segments have been aggregated. Specifically PT PZC Services and PT Transcoal Minergy have been aggregated in the 

Indonesian reporting segment.  

The Australian reporting segment derives its revenues from its investments in the entities making up the Indonesian 

reporting segment and from interest on its cash deposit. It is intended that the Indonesian reporting segment will 

derive revenue from the exploration assets it currently holds and from royalty and off-take agreements currently in 

place. 

Transactions between reportable segments are accounted for in the same manner as transactions with external 

parties. 

 

30 June 2015 segments  

 Australia 

$ 

Indonesia 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Segment result    

Other revenue 1,114 - 1,114 

Supplier, consulting, investor relations and other 192,717 - 192,717 

Employment and occupancy costs 212,293 - 212,293 

Depreciation 19,181 1,844 21,025 

Foreign exchange (gain) loss  14,024 871 14,895 

Segment result  (1,007,899) (3,334) (1,011,233) 

Segment assets and liabilities    

Property, plant and equipment 56,740 6,845 63,585 

Deferred exploration expenditure - 18,821,917 18,821,917 

Loans to/(from) other entities 144,203 (3,494,271) (3,350,068) 

Segment assets 361,387 18,844,449 19,205,836 

Segment liabilities (3,231,001) (4,019,496) (7,250,497) 
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NOTE 2: SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 

30 June 2014 segments  

 Australia 

$ 

Indonesia 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Segment result    

Other revenue 1,142 - 1,142 

Supplier, consulting, investor relations and other 240,685 - 240,685 

Employment and occupancy costs 216,504 - 216,504 

Depreciation 24,530 3,346 27,876 

Foreign exchange (gain) loss  19,330 3 19,333 

Segment result  (1,151,950) (85,378) (1,237,328) 

Segment assets and liabilities    

Property, plant and equipment 74,531 692 75,224 

Deferred exploration expenditure - 16,093,077 16,093,077 

Loans to/(from) other entities 144,203 (3,362,775) (3,218,572) 

Segment assets 439,450 16,111,182 16,550,632 

Segment liabilities (3,856,833) (3,236,830) (7,093,663) 
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NOTE 3: REVENUES AND EXPENSES 

Revenue and Expenses from Continuing Operations 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

(a) Other income   

Interest income 1,114 1,142 

 1,114 1,142 

(b) Disposal of non-current assets   

Loss on disposal of motor vehicle and office equipment - 9,369 

 - 9,369 

(c) Other expenses   

Accounting, audit and legal fees 205,706 133,633 

Bank charges 4,258 5,281 

Consulting, supplier, investor relations and other 192,717 240,685 

Corporate and other administration fees 118,013 148,679 

Directors’ fees 88,600 148,000 

Impairment on loan - 23,182 

Interest  2 31 

Depreciation expense 21,025 27,876 

Employment and occupancy costs 212,293 216,504 

Loss on bond breaking - 31,036 

Stock exchange and share registry expenses 82,510 54,332 

Travel and accommodation expense 54,499 45,410 

Foreign exchange loss  14,895 19,333 

Other 17,829 135,119 

 1,012,347 1,229,101 
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NOTE 4: INCOME TAX BENEFIT 

The prima facie tax on loss from ordinary activities before income tax is reconciled to the income tax benefit as 

follows: 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Operating loss before income tax  (1,011,233) (1,237,328) 

Prima facie benefit on loss from ordinary activities (30%)  

 

303,370 

 

371,198 

Tax effect of amounts which are taxable (deductible) in calculating taxable income   

- Non deductible expenditure  (24,855) (3,077) 

- Capitalised exploration expenditure  51,339 286,793 

    

Deferred Tax Asset (DTA) on temporary differences and tax losses not brought to 
account  

 

329,854 

 

654,915 

Income tax benefit for the year  - - 

    

Deferred tax assets not brought to account at balance date    

Tax losses not brought to account  19,474,695 18,375,181 

Potential tax benefit  5,842,408 5,512,554 

Less: Potential deferred tax on exploration expenditure not brought to account  (3,331,076) (2,512,424) 

  2,511,332 3,000,130 

 

The DTA not brought to account will only be obtained if: 

(a) future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be 

realised; 

(b) the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and 

(c) no changes in the income tax legislation adversely affect the Group in utilising the benefit.  

 

NOTE 5: LOSS PER SHARE 

Basic loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing net loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of 

the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 

parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into 

ordinary shares.  

Share options with an exercise price above the average market price during the period have been excluded from the 

calculation of the diluted earnings per share.  Diluted earnings per share are not reflected as the result is anti-dilutive 

in nature. 
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NOTE 5: LOSS PER SHARE (continued) 

The following reflects the loss and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the basic loss per share 

computations: 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  
2015 

$ 
2014 

$ 

Loss for the year  (1,009,260) (1,230,793) 

    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic loss per share  305,775,520 154,453,409 

 

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the balance 

date and the date of completion of these financial statements. 

 
 

NOTE 6: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  

2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

Cash at bank and cash on hand  135,985 200,600 

  135,985 200,600 

 

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The entity has no credit standby 

arrangements, loan or overdraft facilities for the periods ended 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2015. 

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is $135,985 (2014: $200,600). 

At 30 June 2015, the Company had $20,000 included in the amount above, in a bank deposit that is held as collateral 

against a credit card facility. 
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NOTE 6: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of losses from ordinary activities after income tax to net cash flow from by operating activities 
 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  
2015 

$ 
2014 

$ 

Loss from ordinary activities after income tax  (1,011,233) (1,237,328) 

Add/(less) non-cash flows in loss from ordinary activities:    

Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment  21,025 27,876 

Loss on disposal of assets  - 9,369 

(Increase)/decrease in capitalised exploration costs  (761,796) (852,990) 

(Increase)/decrease in receivables  (132,032) 13,260 

(Decrease)/increase in payables  25,339 486,654 

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss   14,895 19,333 

(Increase)/decrease in other assets  (9,957) (33,145) 

Net cash flows (used in) operating activities (1,853,759) (1,566,971) 

 
 
NOTE 7: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  
2015 

$ 
2014 

$ 

(a) Current    

Trade receivables (i)  13,642 18,137 

  13,642 18,137 

(i) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. 

 
NOTE 8: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

 CONSOLIDATED 

  
2015 

$ 
2014 

$ 

(a) Current    

Security deposit   2,083 - 

Total other financial assets  2,083 - 
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NOTE 9: LOANS TO OTHER ENTITIES 
 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 
 

     2015 
$ 

     2014 
$ 

(a) Non Current   

Other loans (i)  144,203 144,203 

Total loans to other entities 144,203 144,203 

 

(i) Unsecured interest-free loans to minority shareholders of PT Transcoal Minergy.  

 

NOTE 10: PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

At beginning of the year, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 75,224 130,821 

Additions  9,627 2,578 

Disposals (241) (30,299) 

Depreciation (21,025) (27,876) 

At end of the year, net of accumulation depreciation and impairment 63,585 75,224 

 

At 30 June 2014   

Cost at fair value 161,529 

Accumulated depreciation and Impairment (86,305) 

Net carrying amount 75,224 

At 30 June 2015  

Cost at fair value 171,156 

Accumulated depreciation and Impairment (107,571) 

Net carrying amount 63,585 
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NOTE 11: DEFERRED EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE 

 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  
2015 

$ 
2014 

$ 

Exploration and evaluation phases:    

Balance at beginning of the year  16,093,077 15,240,087 

Expenditure incurred   761,796 961,557 

Foreign currency translation movement  1,967,044 (108,567) 

Balance at end of the year  18,821,917 16,093,077 

 

The recoupment of costs carried forward in relation to areas of interest in the exploration and evaluation phases is 

dependent on the successful development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas. The Company 

has one project in Indonesia, the pre-development TCM project.  

As announced to ASX on 4 June 2015, the Company has entered into a binding heads of agreement with Universal Coal 

Resources Pte Ltd (Universal) under which the Company proposes to sell its interest in the TCM Project for shares in 

Universal to the value of SG$30,000,000 (approximately AUD$30,378,000).  The agreement is conditional on a number 

of key matters including, but not limited to, Universal completing its IPO on the Singapore Exchange (SGX). The 

Company believes that it may take at least 12 months for the transaction to complete given the processes involved in 

completing such a transaction. As a result, the Company does not believe that it is prudent to reclassify the carrying 

value of the TCM project as a current asset “Asset held for sale” in accordance with AASB 5 “Non-current Assets Held 

for Sale and Discontinued Operations”. 

 

NOTE 12: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 

                 CONSOLIDATED 

Current Unsecured Liabilities:  
2015 

$ 
2014 

$ 

Trade payables (i)  1,236,160 1,177,331 

Accrued expenses (ii)  133,737 159,865 

Total trade and other payables  1,369,897 1,337,196 

 
(i) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.  
(ii) Accrued expenses are non-interest bearing.  
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NOTE 13: LOANS FROM OTHER ENTITIES 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 
Current 

2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

Loan payable to KOPEX Mining (i)  2,048,975 1,670,502 

Loan payable to KOPEX Mining (ii)  1,245,296 1,015,273 

Loans payable to other parties (iii)  200,000 677,000 

Total loans from other entities  3,494,271 3,362,775 

 

(i) During the Company’s exploration programme, an agreement was entered into with KOPEX to co-fund part 

of the drilling program on the TCM Coal Project. Under the agreement, KOPEX funded a total of 

US$1,600,000 in drilling costs. This amount is treated as a loan to PT Transcoal Minergy and has been 

guaranteed by the Company. Kopex has a right to convert the loan into ordinary shares in the Company if 

the loan defaults. The loan attracts interest at 15% p.a. 

(ii) KOPEX has funded and carried out US$928,700 worth of feasibility study work on the TCM project. The 

amount is repayable on the same terms as the drilling loan provided in (i) above.  The loan attracts interest 

at 15% p.a. 

(iii) The Company has received a loan from Coleman Ventures Limited (CVL) for $200,000 and it has been 

agreed with CVL that it is an advance on the first full note to be drawn down under the Convertible Note 

Agreement at a future date.   

 

NOTE 14: BORROWINGS 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 
 

2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

(a) Current   

Motor vehicle hire purchase liability 12,534 78,193 

Total borrowings 12,534 78,193 

   

(b) Non Current   

Motor vehicle hire purchase liability 58,296 - 

Total borrowings 58,296 - 
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NOTE 15: ACQUISITION / DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDARY  

There were no acquisitions or disposals during the current year.  

 

NOTE 16: ISSUED CAPITAL 

CONSOLIDATED 

   2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

Ordinary shares issued and fully paid 58,475,942 56,181,091 

   

 
No. of 

Shares 

2015 

$ 

No. of 

Shares 

2014 

$ 

Movements in ordinary shares on issue     

At start of year 204,886,286 56,181,091 132,886,286 54,730,660 

- Rights issued to existing shareholders 775,233 16,280 - - 

- Shares issued to underwriter  75,519,340 1,585,906 - - 

- Shares issued under Placement  78,000,000 774,000 72,000,000 1,512,000 

- Less share issue costs - (81,335) - (61,569) 

At end of year 359,180,859 58,475,942 204,886,286 56,181,091 

 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds of winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands, every holder of ordinary 
shares present at a meeting, in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote and upon a poll each share is entitled to 
one vote.  

 
 

NOTE 17: RESERVES 

(a) Share Based Payments Reserve 

Movements in share based payments reserve 

 CONSOLIDATED 

  2015  2014 

 No. Of  
Options 

$ No. of 
Options 

$ 

At start of year 6,100,000 191,305 6,100,000 191,305 

- Expiry of options  (6,100,000) (191,305) - - 

At end of year - - 6,100,000 191,305 
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NOTE 17: RESERVES (continued) 

(b) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 

Movements in foreign currency translation reserve 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 
2015 

$ 

2014 

$ 

At start of year 190,519 295,780 

- Exchange rate differences arising on translation of foreign operations  1,194,325 (105,261) 

At end of year 1,384,844 190,519 

 

Nature and purpose of reserves 

Share based payments reserve 

This reserve is used to record the value of equity benefits provided to employees and Directors as part of their 

remuneration and to suppliers as payments for services. Details on share based payments are disclosed in Note 25. 

Foreign currency translation reserve  

This reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 

subsidiaries.  

 

NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  
2015 

$ 
2014 

$ 

Categories of financial instruments    

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents  135,985 200,600 

Receivables  13,642 18,137 

Other financial assets  2,083 - 

Loans to other entities  144,203 144,203 

  295,913 362,940 

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables  1,369,897 1,337,196 

Borrowings  70,830 78,193 

Loans from other entities  3,494,271 3,362,775 

  4,934,998 4,778,164 

 

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of cash, short-term deposits, and loans from other entities.  

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations.  The Group has other financial 

assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.  The main 

risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.  The 

Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. 
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NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 

measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, 

financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements. 

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities in the financial statements approximate their fair value. 

Cash flow interest rate risk 

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and short-

term deposits and interest bearing loans.   

Credit risk 

The Group’s policy is to trade only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. 

It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms will be subject to credit verification 

procedures. 

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad 

debts is not significant. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group. 

Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 

maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. 

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2014. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity 

holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings/ accumulated losses. 

None of the Group’s entities are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand operations, as well as to make routine expenditures such as 

tax, dividends and general administrative outgoings. 

Gearing levels are reviewed by the Board on a regular basis in line with its target gearing ratio, the cost of capital and 

the risks associated with each class of capital. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Company engages in a number of transactions, including some loans in and out, in US Dollars (USD). The Group 

undertakes certain transactions denominated in currencies, such as Indonesian Rupiah (IDR), hence there are further 

exposures to exchange rate fluctuations. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the 

balance date expressed in Australian dollars are as follows: 

30 June 2015 Liabilities Assets 

US dollars 3,494,271 144,203 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis. 

The Group is exposed to US Dollar currency fluctuations.  

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Australian dollar against the 

US dollar. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding US dollar denominated monetary items and adjusts their 

translation at the year-end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis focuses on external  
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NOTE 18: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

Foreign Exchange Risk (continued) 

loans where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the Group. A positive number 

indicates an increase in equity where the Australian Dollar strengthens against the US dollar. For a weakening of the 

Australian Dollar against the US dollar there would be an equal and opposite impact on the equity and the balances 

below would be negative. 

 

 CONSOLIDATED 

 2015 

AUD/USD +10% 304,552 

AUD/USD - 10% (372,230) 

 

Liquidity risk 

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility using bank overdrafts, 

bank and other loans and capital raisings. 

Interest rate risk 

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity, of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities. 

Year ended 30 June 2015 
<1 month 

$ 

1-3 
months 

$ 

3 months-
1year 

$ 
1-5 years 

$ 
5+ years  

$ 
Total 

$ 

CONSOLIDATED       

Non-interest bearing liabilities - - 3,494,271 - - 3,494,271 

       

Year ended 30 June 2014 
<1 month 

$ 
1-3 months 

$ 

3 months-
1year 

$ 
1-5 years 

$ 
5+ years  

$ 
Total 

$ 

CONSOLIDATED       

Non-interest bearing liabilities - - 3,362,775 - - 3,362,775 

 

 

NOTE 19: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Pan Asia Corporation Limited and the 

controlled entities listed in the following table. 

 Country of 

incorporation 

% Interest  

30 June 2015 

% Interest  

30 June 2014 

Innovation West Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Innovation West Mentewe Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 

PT Transcoal Minergy Indonesia 75 75 

PT PZC Services Indonesia 100 100 

Triumph West Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
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NOTE 19: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE (continued) 

Innovation West Pty Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) has a 100% interest in Innovation West 

Mantewe Pte Ltd which holds a 75% interest in PT Transcoal Minergy.  

During the reporting period, fees for administrative, accounting and consulting fees of $86,787 (excluding GST) were 

incurred to Indian Ocean Advisory Group Pty Ltd. These services were provided on normal commercial terms and 

conditions and at market rates. Mr Luke Martino is a Director of Indian Ocean Advisory Group Pty Ltd. The amount 

outstanding at year end is $90,531. 

As reported in the Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2014: 

1. Ridgescan Pty Ltd, a company related to Mr Alan Hopkins, had provided short-term loans to the Company. 

These were repaid in October 2014. In December 2014, Ridgescan Pty Ltd provided a further short-term loan 

of $50,000, which incurred a fee of $5,000. This short-term loan was settled prior to 30 June 2015. As at 30 

June 2015, there are no loan principal or fees outstanding to Ridgescan Pty Ltd. 

2. LJM Capital Corporation Pty Ltd, a company related Mr Luke Martino, had provided a short-term loan to the 

Company.  The loan was repaid prior to 31 December 2014. 

 

NOTE 20: EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 

On 8 July 2015, the Company announced a $2m non-renounceable entitlement offer to existing shareholders at 

$0.007 per share. The entitlements issue closed on 6 August 2015 raising ~$918,000 from shareholders. The 

entitlements issue was not underwritten. The Company now has 490,664,567 ordinary fully paid shares on issue.  

 

NOTE 21: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 

The auditor of Pan Asia Corporation Limited is HLB Mann Judd. 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  
 2015 

$ 
 2014 

$ 

Amounts due and received by the auditor for:  

- audit or review of the financial report 37,750 39,000 

- preparations of an independent expert’s report 20,000 - 

  57,750 39,000 

 

NOTE 22: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

As at 30 June 2015, there are no commitments and contingent liabilities to be disclosed.  
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NOTE 23: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL  

Key management personnel (KMP) remuneration has been included in the Remuneration Report Section of the 

Directors Report. 

 

KMP Compensation 

Refer to the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report for the details of the remuneration paid or 

payable to each member of the Group’s KMP for the year ended 30 June 2015. 

The totals of remuneration paid to KMP of the Group during the year are as follows: 

  CONSOLIDATED 

  
 2015 

$ 
 2014 

$ 

Short term employee benefits 503,600 568,000 

Post employment benefits  17,100 16,650 

Non-monetary benefits  15,703 18,336 

  536,403 602,986 

 

NOTE 24: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES  

Financial position  

 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

Assets   

Current assets 6,895,260 5,024,753 

Non-current assets 5,951,740 5,969,531 

Total assets 12,847,000 10,994,284 

Liabilities    

Current liabilities 833,365 1,537,321 

Non-current liabilities 58,296 - 

Total liabilities 891,661 1,537,321 

Equity   

Issued capital 58,475,840 56,181,087 

Accumulated losses  (46,520,501) (46,915,429) 

Share based payments reserve - 191,305 

Total equity  11,955,339 9,456,963 

Financial performance  

 2015 
$ 

2014 
$ 

Profit / (Loss) for the year 394,928 (1,337,033) 

Other comprehensive income - - 

Total comprehensive profit / (loss) 394,928 (1,337,033) 
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NOTE 25: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

There were no share-based payment arrangements in place in the current year.  

The following share-based payment arrangements were in place in the prior year: 

Unlisted Option Series Number Grant Date Expiry date 

Exercise price  

$ 

Fair value at 

grant date  

$ 

PZCOPT9 500,000 11/10/2011 11/10/2014 $0.25 $10,000 

PZCOPT10 5,600,000 01/02/2012 01/02/2015 $0.25 $161,305 

 

The following table illustrates the number (No.), weighted average exercise prices of, and movements in share options 

issued: 

 

2015 

No. 

2015 
Weighted 

average 
exercise price 

2014  

No. 

2014 
Weighted 

average 
exercise price 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 6,100,000 $0.25 6,100,000 $0.25 

Granted during the year  - - - - 

Exercised during the year - - - - 

Expired during the year (6,100,000) $0.25 - - 

Outstanding at the end of the year - - 6,100,000 $0.25 

Exercisable at the end of the year - - 6,100,000 $0.25 

 

The range in contractual life for the share options outstanding is NIL. 

The exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year is NIL (2014: $0.25). 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year is NIL (2014: $NIL). 

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted to the other parties as consideration for services rendered is 

measured as at the date of grant using the fair value of the service received. 

 

There were no options outstanding as at 30 June 2015. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

1. In the opinion of the Directors of Pan Asia Corporation Limited (the ‘Company’): 

 a. the accompanying financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 

including: 

 i. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its 

performance for the year then ended;  and 

 ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001, 

professional reporting requirements and other mandatory requirements. 

 b. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable. 

 c.   the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

2. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in 

accordance with Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2015. 

  

 

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 

 

Luke Martino 

Director 

Dated 30 September 2015 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the members of Pan Asia Corporation Limited 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Pan Asia Corporation Limited (“the company”), 
which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration for 
the Group. The Group comprises the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from 
time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report  

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In Note 1(c), the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101: 
Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial report complies with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Group’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or 
management. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.  

 

 

http://www.hlb.com.au/
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Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001.  

Auditor’s opinion  

In our opinion:  

(a) the financial report of Pan Asia Corporation Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 
and  

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed 
in Note 1(c).  

 
Emphasis of matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1(w) in the financial report which indicates 
that the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is principally dependent upon the success 
of various funding options. Should the Group be unsuccessful in generating the required funds from 
these sources, there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt whether the Group will 
be able to continue as a going concern and, therefore, whether it will be able to realise its assets and 
extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial 
report. 
 
Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the remuneration report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 
2015.  The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards.  

Auditor’s opinion  

In our opinion the remuneration report of Pan Asia Corporation Limited for the year ended 30 June 
2015 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

 

 

HLB Mann Judd 
Chartered Accountants  

 L Di Giallonardo 
Partner  

 
 
Perth, Western Australia 
30 September 2015  
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR LISTED PUBLIC COMPANIES 

Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange and not shown elsewhere in this report is 

as follows. The information is complete up to 21 September 2015.   

 

(a) Ordinary Shares  

i) Distribution of ordinary shares 

 490,664,567 fully paid shares held by 856 shareholders.  All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per 

share and carry the rights to dividends.  

 

ii) The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class is: 

 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares 

1 – 1,000 34,901 

1,001 – 5,000 298,333 

5,001 – 10,000 515,164 

10,001 – 100,000 17,765,306 

100,001 and over 472,050,863 

Holding less than a marketable parcel               11,017,911 

 

iii) Substantial Shareholders (fully paid shares) 

There are four shareholders registered with 5% or more of the issued shares of the Company as of 21 September 

2015. 

 

Fully Paid Number %IC 

NEXUS LINK LIMITED 171,779,861 35.01% 

JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 97,477,188 19.87% 

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 45,051,607 9.18% 

ABN AMRO CLEARING SYDNEY NOMINEES PTY LTD 25,985,177 5.30% 

 
(iv)   Twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities (fully paid shares) 
 

Name Fully Paid Number %IC 

NEXUS LINK LIMITED 99,519,340 32.61% 

JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 97,477,188 19.87% 

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 45,051,607 9.18% 

ABN AMRO CLEARING SYDNEY NOMINEES PTY LTD 25,985,177 5.30% 

LANESBOROUGH INVESTMENT PTE LTD 24,000,000 4.89% 

HSBC CSUTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 10,138,431 2.07% 

RIDGESCAN PTY LTD 5,821,000 1.90% 

LJM ENTERPRISES (WA) PTY LTD 5,000,000 1.02% 

MONEX BOOM SECURITIES (HK) LTD 3,270,000 0.67% 

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 3,142,554 0.64% 

JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 11,075,783 3.63% 

DOMENAL ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 2,500,000 0.51% 

JOHN WARDMAN & ASSOCIATES PTY LTD 2,300,000 0.47% 

MR JOHN DESMOND MARTIN 2,000,000 0.41% 

OATSWORTH PTE LTD 1,837,299 0.37% 

VBASS PTY LTD 1,831,748 0.37% 
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MR DAMIEN ALLEN 1,800,000 0.37% 

MARK SOMMERS HILL 1,500,000 0.31% 

UOB KAY HIAN (HONG KONG) LIMITED 1,458,334 0.30% 

MCGEE CONSTRUCTIONS PTY LTD 1,350,000 0.44% 

 

TCM Project (Production Mining Business Licence (“IUP”) – South Kalimantan)   

 

Interest in Mining Tenements 

Holder Production IUP Location % interest 

PT Transcoal Minergy  Operation Production 
IUP 

Mantewe District, Tanah Bumbu 
Regency, South Kalimantan Province, 
Indonesia 

75% 

 

The Company owns 75% of PT Transcoal Minergy, the owner of mining operation production licence 

545/091/IUP-OP/D.PE/2010 dated 28 April 2010 and situated within the administrative boundaries of the 

Kecamantans of Mantewe and Batulicin, Kapupatan Tanah Bumbu Province of South Kalimantan, Indonesia. The 

area is approximately 125km east of Banjarmasin (the provincial capital of South Kalimantan) and approximately 

40km northwest of Batulicin (the capital of the Kabupatan Tanah Bumbu). The concession is adjacent to the east 

of Arutmin’s ATA open pit coalmine and as such, it benefits from having well known high CV coal quality and 

good established infrastructure. 

 

TCM PROJECT JORC RESOURCES * 

  CURRENT 

  Measured Indicated Inferred TOTAL 

  Mt Mt Mt Mt 

Mineable Seams 
  

    

SU (5) 20.43 12.25 32.03 64.71 

SM (6) 17.19 12.22 35.04 64.45 
  

  
    

Sub Total       129.16 

  
  

    

Other Seams 15.79 10.95 21.37 48.11 

TOTAL 53.41 35.42 88.44 177.27 

 
Coal Quality Resource Summary of Underground Mineable Seams S5 + S6 

Seam ID 
TM IM Ash VM FC TS CV (adb) RD 

(% ar) (% adb) (% adb) (% adb) (% adb) (% adb) (Kcal/kg) g/Cc 

S5 5.2 3.9 12.8 41.7 41.6 1.65 6,655 1.36 

S6 5.0 3.6 12.7 42.3 41.5 0.39 6,705 1.36 

Weighted average value for S5+S6 5.10 3.75 12.75 42.00 41.55 1.02 6680 1.36 
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Indicative 14% Ash Coal Specification – After Washing  

Proximate Analysis   14% Ash Spec 

Total Moisture ar 8.5 
Inherent Moisture adb 3.0 
Ash content ar 14.0 
Volatile Matter ar 38.1 
  daf 49.8 
Fixed Carbon   by difference 
Total Sulfur ar 1.00 
Calorific Value ar 6200 
  adb 6600 
  daf 8000 

Ultimate Analysis - From F1.6 Analysis   
  Carbon daf 79.6 

Hydrogen daf 6.05 
Nitrogen daf 1.12 
Total Sulfur daf 0.75 
Oxygen + error daf 12.48 

Ash Fusion Temperature       

    
Reducing 

Atmosphere 
Oxidising 

Atmosphere 
Deformation 

o
C >1600 >1600 

Spherical 
o
C >1600 >1600 

Hemispherical 
o
C >1600 >1600 

Flow 
o
C >1600 >1600 

Ash Chemistry - From F1.60 coal analysis only   
    Silica as SiO2 % 51.4 

  Aluminium as Al2O3 % 31.0 
  Iron as Fe2O3 % 8.6 
  Calcium as CaO % 2.35 
  Magnesium as MgO % 0.50 
  Titanium as TiO2 % 3.05 
  Sodium as Na2O % 0.50 
  Potassium as K2O % 0.12 
  Manganese as Mn3O4 % 0.039 
  Phosporus as P2O5 % 0.221 
  Sulfur as SO3 % 1.15 
Crucible Swelling Number   - 

Physical Properties       
Hardgrove Grindability Index   45 
Nominal Top Size mm 50 
Minus 2mm % 15 

Estimated Yields -                    
Based on 3.63m of coal and 0.79m parting   78% 

 

PARAMETERS USED IN JORC UPGRADE 

1. A total of 64  boreholes was used for the update of the resource estimation; 

2. All finished boreholes were geophysically logged, samples taken and sent to laboratories; 

3. Profiles, logs of boreholes and seam correlations have been completed; 

4. Collar coordinates have been completed;  

5. Laboratory testing: quality, geotech, gas methane undertaken; 

6. Some of the coal quality data has been obtained from boreholes with less than 95% linear recovery.  The 

lower core recoveries typically result from the weak, brittle nature of Indonesian coals, high vitrinite 

contents and drilling techniques used. The removal of geotechnical samples from the coal seams has 
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also affected sample recovery for coal quality test work in some boreholes. Coal quality contour plans 

indicate a relatively consistent spatial distribution of key quality parameters, including air-dried ash 

content and calorific value. The low degree of spatial variability is typical of the seams of the Tanjung 

Formation, which typically do not exhibit the degree of variability observed in many Australian coal 

formations.  This has been further verified by statistical analysis of geological data over the TCM 

concession area, which has illustrated that the quality values are within expected ranges and have not 

been affected by boreholes with less than 95% recovery.  

7. A full version of an updated resource statement has been elaborated with the recent drilling and 

laboratory testing completed. 

Future resource statements will only report resources within the S5 and S6 seams as they are expected to be 

economically viable by underground mining methods. All other seams will be excluded.  

The JORC Resource calculation was undertaken by European coal industry group Kopex Mining Contractors (part 

of the KOPEX Group) and is the fourth coal resources statement in the TCM concession.  The latest JORC 

Statement is dated 31 October 2012 and was prepared and first disclosed under the JORC Code 2004. It has not 

been updated since to comply with the JORC Code 2012 on the basis that the information has not materially 

changed since it was last reported. The above-mentioned JORC Resources, Coal Quality and Specifications are 

unchanged from those reported in the previous year. The Company ensured that governance arrangements 

mineral resource  estimates quoted were subject to governance arrangements and controls and a summary of 

the procedures and parameters for coal estimation is outlined as follows: 

An “in situ” geological model was initially created by GMT geologists working on the TCM project using Mincon 

software. The final model after completion of drilling stages was built by Palaris Australia Consulting. The model 

had cut off criteria applied. The model and underlying raw data such as borehole logs, coal quality reports and 

geophysical logs were reviewed by Competent Person, Marek Rosa. First resources estimation was completed by 

the GMT geologist as at 31 May 2010 after completion of Drilling Phase 1. Drilling phase 2 was then subsequently 

completed, new exploration data was reviewed by Marek Rosa and correlated with previous data obtained to the 

end of May 2010. The geological model was updated and new structure/ quality/ thickness map and cross 

sections were prepared. The geological model was categorised into indicated and inferred confidence areas and 

then coal volumes, tonnages and qualities were estimated and reported in these categories. The second resource 

estimation was completed by Kopex as at 31 January 2011 based on exploration in drilling phases 1&2. The 

exploration Drilling Phase 3 began in June 2011 with a total of 34 boreholes supervised by Kopex geologists. This 

drilling program was designed to increase the level of confidence of resources and provide data required for 

designing of an underground mine. After completion of Drilling Phase 3 in March 2012 and laboratory testworks, 

all obtained to date geological data was re-examined. The geological model was categorised into measured, 

indicated and inferred confidence areas and then coal volumes, tonnages and qualities were estimated and 

reported in these categories. Cross sections, plans and deposit characteristics such as structure, number and 

thickness of seams were examined to decide on minimum seam thickness, coal quality and resources estimation. 

These factors were then used to update the in situ geological model dated 15 April 2012. Further boreholes were 

drilled through to 21 June 2012 which were reviewed and added to the final geological mode. Further review of 

64 boreholes were undertaken and results documented in the latest JORC Resources Statement of 31 October 

2012. 

*The information was prepared and first disclosed under the JORC Code 2004. It has not been updated since, to 
comply with the JORC Code 2012, on the basis that the information has not materially changed since it was last 
reported. 
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Competent Persons’ Statement 

The information in this release that relates to the Coal Resources of PT. Transcoal Minergy (“TCM”) is based on information 

compiled and reviewed by Mr. Marek Rosa, who is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (The 

AusIMM) and works full time for PT Kopex Mining Contractors based in Jakarta, Indonesia (Member of Kopex Group Poland). 

Mr Rosa is a qualified geologist who has more than 20 years of relevant mining and geological experience in coal, working for 

major mining companies in Poland (17 years) and in Indonesia (4 years) as a consultant. He has National Polish geological 

license No II-1140 for research, exploration, resource and reserve estimation of deposits of basic minerals and coalbed gas 

methane. During this time, he has either managed or contributed significantly to numerous mining studies related to the 

estimation, assessment, evaluation and economic extraction of coal in Poland and Indonesia. He has sufficient experience, 

which is relevant to the style and type of deposit under consideration especially for Underground Mining and to the activity 

he is undertaking to qualify him as a Competent Person for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore 

Reserves.   

The estimates of Coal Resources have been carried out in accordance with the “Australasian Code for Reporting of 

Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” (December,2004) and Mr Rosa consents to the inclusion in this 

release of the Mineral Resources in the form and content in which it appears. 

 

       

MAREK ROSA M.Sc. (Geology), MAusIMM 
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